No. 24-CO-210

ROBERT WI	ILLIAMS.	,
-----------	----------	---

Appellant,

Appellee.

v.

## UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,


Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia

**Criminal Division** 

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

\_\_\_\_\_

\* THOMAS D. ENGLE
Burka and Engle, P.L.L.C.
Suite 900 South
601 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20004
(202) 574-0400
Counsel for Appellant

#

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT IT WAS A REASONABLE STRATEGIC DECISION FOR DEFENSE COUNSEL TO FORGO DNA TESTING DESPITE DETERMINING THAT APPELLANT WAS PREJUDICED BY COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO REQUEST TESTING

II.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT
DEFENSE COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO ADVISE APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHTS
UNDER THE INNOCENCE PROTECTION ACT WAS EFFECTIVE
REPRESENTATION BECAUSE DEFENSE COUNSEL COULD ASSUME
PRIOR COUNSEL DID SO

III.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ORDER POST-CONVICTION DNA TESTING WHERE TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant previously appeaded the denial of his ineffective assistance motion without a hearing. This Court remanded for a hearing to be conducted. The trial court conducted a hearing on February 14, 2024.

On February 26, 2024, the trial court orally announced its decision. On the first Strickland factor – deficient performance – the trial court ruled that defense counsel made a strategic decision not to pursue DNA testing and thus there was not deficient performance.

However, as to the second factor – prejudice – the trial court ruled that were this Court to hold that there was deficient performance, then appellant demonstrated prejudice by his attorney's failure to seek DNA testing.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

This Court previously summarized the facts of this case in its Remand Order of August 29, 2024:

[O]n April 28, 2015, Angela Roberts was moving out of the Benning Courts apartment complex, located at 1705 Benning Road, Northeast, when an individual later identified as appellant entered her apartment and placed a gun to the back of her head demanding money. After Ms. Roberts declined to give appellant money, he struck her on the head with the gun. Elliott Dupervil, who shared the apartment with Ms. Roberts, came into the living room after hearing screaming and attempted to call the police. Appellant followed Mr. Dupervil into his room with the gun, took between \$80 and \$100 from Mr. Dupervil's dresser, then fled the apartment. Mr. Dupervil immediately called 911 and described the individual who robbed them as a dark-skinned male, wearing a mask, blue jeans, a black "hoodie," and blue New Balance sneakers.

Surveillance cameras from around the apartment complex revealed an individual entering Benning Court at the time of the crime wearing the same apparel Mr. Dupervil described to the police. Based on the surveillance video, Ms. Roberts identified [that same individual entering Benning Courts near the time of the crime] as the robber both at the hospital and at trial. Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) Investigator Alexis Sakulich responded to Benning Courts to assist in reviewing the surveillance footage. Based upon her knowledge of the area from her

time working with MPD, Investigator Sakulich identified the appellant as the suspect depicted in surveillance.

Investigator Sakulich was present when appellant was arrested at 1736 Benning Road, the apartment complex located across the street from the robbery, six hours after the incident. Appellant was wearing an outfit that largely matched the individual in the video surveillance. Police took into evidence a black hoodie from a closet approximately five feet from appellant, white headphones similar to those depicted in the footage, and \$67 in cash from a coffee table located within the apartment. Neither a gun nor mask w[as] recovered during the arrest, and appellant's DNA was not linked to swabs taken at the scene.

At trial, the government presented testimony from Investigator Sakulich and submitted into evidence the Benning Courts surveillance tape. Investigator Sakulich testified that she had patrolled the police district encompassing Benning Courts since 2006, and it was the only area she has ever patrolled since joining the MPD. Based on her nine years working near Benning Courts, Investigator Sakulich testified to her knowledge and experience within the area and her familiarity with the residents and frequent visitors. She further testified to having previous interactions with appellant over the course of "some years," at times seeing him on a day-to-day basis within the "general area" of the Benning Courts apartment complex.

At trial, Investigator Sakulich identified appellant as the suspect depicted in the surveillance footage. Her identification was not objected to by the defense. On cross-examination, Investigator Sakulich admitted that, although the suspect's face is not directly shown in all of the footage, she was able to base her identification on her

familiarity with appellant's general facial features, hairline, and other characteristics.

Remand Order, Aug 19, 2022, quoting original Memorandum Opinion and Judgment.

This Court then summarized the post-trial ineffective assistance claim:

At trial, appellant's defense was misidentification, based on the evidence that the perpetrator was masked, such that neither Ms. Roberts nor Mr. Dupervil saw his face. Neither victim identified appellant as the robber. Trial counsel highlighted in closing argument that the complainants could describe only the "generic-type," "standard-issue" clothing worn by the robber. Trial counsel's closing argument also focused on the poor quality of the surveillance video and of the still photos derived from the video. In addition, trial counsel attacked the reliability of Investigator Sakulich's identification of appellant as the individual depicted in the video and attacked the police investigation as "Keystone Cop worthy." Counsel pointed out in particular that crime scene investigators did DNA swabbing of some items in the apartment, but that no one obtained a DNA sample from appellant for comparison purposes. Nor, counsel emphasized, was there any fingerprint testing or other forensic evidence linking appellant to the crime. Counsel also stressed that police did not recover a gun or ski mask from appellant. Counsel drew the jury's attention to the evidence that the apartment where appellant was arrested, and where a black hoodie was found hanging in a closet, was not appellant's residence. Finally, counsel reminded the jury that the surveillance video showed an individual in generic clothing and a popular shoe brand; counsel acknowledged that the clothing items resembled items appellant was

wearing at the time of his arrest, but told jurors that appellant had not been proven guilty of the crimes.

On October 14, 2019, before the mandate issued in his direct appeal, appellant moved for relief pursuant to § 23-110, alleging ineffective assistance by trial counsel. The motion asserted that trial counsel failed to arrange for testing of the "shoes, pants, and sweatshirt" (i.e., the black hoodie) involved in the case. The motion was not accompanied by an affidavit or declaration by appellant, but it asserted that appellant "told his trial counsel that he wanted the evidence tested." On June 19, 2020, pursuant to D.C. Code § 22-4133(a), appellant also sought postconviction DNA testing of the "[s]weatshirt, [s]hoes, and [p]ants" that were submitted into evidence at trial and submitted an affidavit attesting to his actual innocence of the crimes. On October 20, 2020, the Honorable Juliet McKenna denied appellant's requests. Judge McKenna concluded from the trial record that trial counsel's performance was not deficient and also that appellant could not establish prejudice, i.e., that there was not a "reasonable probability of a different outcome" from DNA testing. Having denied appellant's § 23-110 motion, the court also ruled that appellant was not entitled to DNA testing under § 22-4133(a)(3) (applicable to previously untested material that "[w]as not previously subjected to DNA testing because of circumstances that would entitle the applicant to relief under § 23-110").

*Id*, pp. 3-4.

This Court remanded for a hearing to "probe what appellant may have said to his trial counsel about DNA testing:"

Thus, DNA testing that might have excluded appellant as a contributor to any DNA on the hoodie, or that might have detected no evidence of victim Roberts's DNA on the hoodie, shoes or pants, could have made a difference in the outcome of appellant's case. To be sure, appellant's trial counsel may have made a not-to-be-second guessed strategic or tactical decision not to seek DNA testing, and we do not know (and more to the point, the trial court did not know) whether appellant actually asked his counsel to arrange for testing, as appellant's (unverified) motion asserted. Yet inquiry into counsel's conversations with the defendant may be critical to a proper assessment of counsel's investigation decisions. Trial counsel is strongly presumed to have made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. But without a hearing at which counsel could explain his rationale and address whether appellant requested that counsel pursue DNA testing, the trial court had no basis for determining whether the non-testing was a strategic decision or an objectively unreasonable omission. We conclude that the trial court was premature in concluding that appellant's trial counsel was not deficient.

*Id,*, pp. 9-10 (quotations and citations omitted).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Attorney Williams Was Ineffective for Failing to Conduct DNA Testing

#### A. Factual Introduction

The trial court found that appellant did not request that his attorney perform DNA testing.<sup>1</sup> Yet, that does not end the inquiry. Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in finding the trial attorney's decision not to pursue DNA testing was reasonable:

(1) declining to conduct an investigation when the client professes innocence is not a reasonable strategic decision; and (2) the trial attorney based the decision on an insufficient factual basis, rendering it unreasonable..

## (1) Attorney/Client Relationship

Both attorney Williams and appellant agreed that attorney Williams dominated their relationship. As explained by appellant, attorney Williams "brushed me off" and "just did what he wanted to do." Tr. 2/14/24, pp. 58-59, 62. As explained by attorney Williams, appellant "didn't seem to forcefully engage, if you will. He was a rather passive listener...." Tr. 2/14/24, p. 96.

Appellant testified that attorney Williams gave him no choice about how the case was going to be tried, "he just told me." Tr. 2/14/24, p. 88. Attorney Williams

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Appellant's contrary testimony on this point was not credited by the trial court.

testified that appellant was on board with a misidentification defense, "as far as I could tell." Tr. 2/14/24, p. 98.

(2) Appellant Expressed His Innocence to Attorney Williams

While he chose not to believe appellant – based on insufficient facts discussed infra – attorney Williams conceded that appellant expressed his innocence at their very first meeting:

He had never indicated to me ... affirmatively that he hadn't participated in the event. I believe he, when I asked him open-ended questions when we first met to discuss it, didn't understand why he would possibly have been arrested, which is not really a strong denial, either.

Tr. 2/14/24, p. 100. From his perception of the conversation, attorney Williams considered appellant's statement to be a denial, but concluded that it was not a "strong denial." There was no suggestion in attorney Williams' testimony that appellant ever wavered in his a denial of the offense throughout the entire representation.

(3) Attorney Williams Believed Appellant's Denial Was a Lie, so Attorney Williams Did Not Seek DNA Testing

Despite appellant's denial, attorney Williams concluded that appellant was involved in the offense, which was the basis for his decision not to seek DNA testing

.

Attorney Williams testified to an incident – which he described as a "tell" – that appellant was lying to him about not being involved.

Attorney Williams provided appellant with the name of an individual, "Ant," from the police report who might be able to assist the defense. Appellant told attorney Williams that he "vaguely" knew Ant; it was agreed that appellant would try to obtain contact information for Ant. When they next met, appellant indicated that he did not want to pursue that. Attorney Williams used this to support a belief that appellant was guilty, which informed his decision not to pursue DNA testing:

And the next time we got together with the investigator, I brought up that matter of trying to track down [Ant] and [appellant] specifically told me not to pursue that, which, for me, was a bit of a tell that -- if he didn't want me talking to somebody, obviously, hiding something, but he just didn't want me to go any further because it was probably incriminatory.

Tr. 2/14/24, p. 102. There was no follow-up discussion of whether appellant could even find Ant, whether the Ant did not want to cooperate, or why appellant did not want to pursue Ant.

Despite basing his strategic decision-making on the notion that appellant's denial was a lie, attorney Williams did not probe the denial further. Attorney Williams testified that he was fearful that if he were to inquire further as to appellant's asserted innocence, he would be fired by appellant:

I was his third attorney, and it's been my experience, with many of my clients, that sometimes if you push them too far like you're interrogating them like a prosecutor would about their recollection and so forth of the events, they're going to want a new attorney, and I just let it go.

Tr. 2/14/24, pp. 102-03.<sup>2</sup>

Despite lacking a firm foundation for his belief that appellant falsely denied involvement, attorney Williams's decision making was based on his acceptance of the government's case. He described the evidence as stacked against appellant:

[G]iven what we knew about the Government's case: the statements of at least two eyewitnesses to the offense, the complaining witness, and the roommate – his name escapes me right now – the – there was surveillance video that the Government had available to it. He was apprehended within a few hours after the offense, within probably a few hundred yards of where the offense occurred. He was on GPS monitoring at the time because he was on probation or pretrial release – I forget – but he was on a GPS monitor. That monitor had placed him at the scene of the offense, at the time the offense occurred, and it assisted the police when they went to go arrest him. It placed him at that neighboring apartment with some precision when he got arrested.

Tr. 2/14/24, pp. 98-99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Attorney Williams was concurrently appointed to five different cases of appellant. Tr. 2/14/24, p. 92. Attorney Williams was appointed under the Criminal Justice Act, which compensates attorneys by the hour, not on a retainer basis.

Believing the government's evidence – and not his client's denial – attorney Williams decided not to pursue DNA testing:

Well, again, I was not confident that Mr. Williams had nothing to do with the offense; that, in fact, it probably would have – if there were any biological material on any of those things, it very well could have been incriminating against Mr. Williams.

. . . .

Boy, it's hard to — when the Government's got DNA evidence placing a client at a scene — and DNA is pretty compelling scientific evidence — it's hard to come up with a strategy to explain that. .... I'm not sure how you defend that case.

p. 104

Attorney Williams conceded that there was no discussion with appellant of the possible benefits of DNA testing. He simply told appellant that the defense would be based on the lack of a DNA testing:

Q. And what specifically about the lack of forensic evidence did you discuss?

A. Well, that there were no fingerprints putting him on the scene. There was no DNA evidence tying him to the scene.

Tr. 2/14/24, p. 96. Attorney Williams never even mentioned the possibility of DNA testing to appellant:

Q. So that means that you never actually had a conversation with him about the potential of DNA evidence in this case, either for or against?

A. No. I believe I spoke about the absence of DNA evidence in the Government's case. I'm absolutely certain that I would have had that discussion with him --

Q. But not the --

A. -- because that fed into the misidentification.

Q. But not the opposite conversation where, because he -you're saying he never asked you about it, so you would not have had the conversation about why that would have been a bad idea?

A. Well, I probably didn't have that conversation with him.

Tr. 2/14/24, p. 116. Appellant's testimony also confirmed that there was never any discussion of risk/benefit involved with DNA testing. Tr. 2/14/24, pp. 59, 82.

Indeed, so sure was attorney Williams of appellant's guilt, that he testified that had appellant requested DNA testing, "I would have discouraged him pretty strongly." Tr. 2/14/24, p. 99. In fact, attorney Williams believed that simply requesting DNA testing would give the government the idea to conduct its own testing – the results of which would prove appellant guilty:

But it would have been pretty foolhardy, in my estimation, to try to pursue that, because it would have required asking the government, who had not done any DNA testing, who had not taken a swab from my client, who had not taken a

swab from the complaining witness, and there were no – as far as I could tell from the crime scene reports and everything, there was no DNA that had been collected at all. If I alerted them to the fact that I wanted to be provided with the clothes that were taken from the closet that Mr. Williams now thinks might have had DNA on them, and I also wanted a swab taken from Ms. Roberts, they probably would have pursued DNA testing on – [the Government] would have probably – pursued DNA testing on your own.

Tr. 2/14/24, p. 102.

#### B. Standard of Review

This Court has clearly defined the standard of review with respect to ineffective assistance claims under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984):

Both prongs of *Strickland* are mixed questions of law and fact, so we accept the trial court's findings of fact unless they lack evidentiary support in the record, and we review the trial court's legal determinations *de novo*.

Bellinger v. United States, 294 A.3d 1094, 1104-05 (D.C. 2023).

In the context of a challenge to whether a trial attorney's decision making was a reasonable strategic choice, this Court will credit the trial court's credibility assessment of whether the attorney considered the issue and made a decision – as opposed to being oblivious to the issue. However, this Court reviews whether the

attorney's decision was reasonable *de novo*. *Richardson v. United States*, No. 22-CO-0900 (D.C. July 18, 2024) ("While we do not second-guess Judge Hertzfeld's credibility finding that [the trial attorney] made a strategic choice to forgo an entrapment defense, that decision was beyond the wide bounds of what might be considered reasonable trial strategy. ... These attorney's justifications do not withstand scrutiny.")

## C. Legal Discussion

At the risk of putting the cart before the horse, although the trial court found that attorney Williams' decision not to conduct DNA testing was tactical, which this appeal challenges, the trial court correctly found that – if this Court disagreed with that assessment – then appellant demonstrated prejudice.<sup>3</sup>

I am satisfied, based upon the testimony of [the DNA expert], and as I said, [at the evidentiary hearing], just based upon common sense, that the defendant has demonstrated a reasonable probability that the victim's blood could have been present on the shoes and pants that he was wearing at the time of his arrest if he had, in fact, been involved in the altercation, as well as on the hoodie, and that the DNA of the wearer of the hoodie would have left DNA on that item of clothing.

(continued...)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The trial court held:

In short, the trial court found appellant established the second *Strickland* prong, but not the first, concluding that it was reasonable for defense counsel to forgo DNA testing. Appellant asserts that defense counsel's decision was unreasonable as a matter of law or, in the alternative, that the trial court erred in determining it was reasonable.

(1) *Per Se* Unreasonable for Defense Attorney to Decline to Investigate Based on Belief that Client's Denial of Involvement Was a Lie

The *Strickland* case teaches that

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