BRIEF FOR APPELLEE



DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 24-CO-210

Clerk of the Court Received 05/14/2025 07:20 AM Filed 05/14/2025 07:20 AM

ROBERT A. WILLIAMS,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

EDWARD R. MARTIN, JR. United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB JULIA R. COSANS

- * ERIC HANSFORD D.C. Bar #1017785 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 555 Fourth Street, NW, Room 8104 Washington, D.C. 20530 Eric.Hansford@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2015-CF3-5883

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

By contrast, in counsel's view, the proposed DNA testing carried little potential upside. Because the clothing had all been recovered at the scene of the arrest (instead of the scene of the crime), this was not a situation where DNA testing could potentially reveal an alternative suspect. Instead, the best possible result for appellant would be if DNA testing failed to detect the victim's blood on the clothing (or failed to detect appellant's DNA on the hoodie). But that would prove little (see 2/14/24 Tr. 112-14). As counsel explained, the "absence of evidence is not evidence of absence, which means that the fact that there's no fingerprint or DNA, even in circumstances where that would be expected, does not mean that the accused was not present at the scene" (id.). See Crocker v. United States, 253 A.3d 146, 158 & n.36 (D.C. 2021) ("[f]or a variety of reasons, . . . fingerprints and DNA often are not recoverable from objects that people certainly have handled"). Indeed, when counsel had obtained similar results in a murder trial, defense and government splatter experts had given competing opinions on whether the lack of blood on the

defendant's clothing was probative of guilt, and the jury ultimately disregarded the blood-splatter issue entirely (*id.*).

On the other side of the ledger, the proposed DNA testing risked catastrophic harm to appellant's defense. Finding the victim's DNA on appellant's clothing would prove his involvement in the crime (2/14/24) Tr. 104), transforming a seemingly winnable case about mistaken identity into a clear conviction. See Davis v. United States, 641 A.2d 484, 494 (D.C. 1994) ("While tests performed on the missing sex kit might have exculpated appellant, it is equally plausible that the test results might have sealed the government's case against appellant, or produced no conclusive evidence whatsoever."). Further, counsel had good reason to fear that DNA testing "very well could have been incriminating," given the evidence presented at trial, the GPS data putting appellant at the crime scene, and appellant's own evasive statements that seemed incriminatory to experienced counsel (2/14/24 Tr. 98, 100-02, 104-05).

Given the upsides to trying the case without DNA testing, the limited benefits of "good" DNA results, and the devastating risks of "bad" DNA results, counsel's pretrial decision to forgo DNA testing is the sort of strategic litigation decision that is "entitled to a strong presumption of

reasonableness." Dunn v. Reeves, 141 S. Ct. 2405, 2410 (2021) (quotation marks omitted). Indeed, the Supreme Court upheld a similar strategic decision in Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86 (2011). There, Richter contended that his counsel should have pursued serology testing and expert testimony on a pool of blood found at the murder scene, where favorable testing could have corroborated the defendant's version of events. See id. at 108. But the Supreme Court disagreed, emphasizing the "serious risks" of testing: "If serological analysis or other forensic evidence demonstrated that the blood came from Johnson alone, Richter's story would be exposed as an invention. An attorney need not pursue an investigation that would be fruitless, much less one that might be harmful to the defense." Id. The Supreme Court also acknowledged defense counsel's legitimate concern that "making a central issue out of blood evidence would have increased the likelihood of the prosecution's producing its own evidence on the blood pool's origins and composition; and once matters proceeded on this course, there was a serious risk that expert evidence could destroy Richter's case." Id. And "[e]ven apart from this danger, there was the possibility that expert testimony could shift attention to esoteric matters of forensic science, distract the jury from

whether Johnson was telling the truth, or transform the case into a battle of the experts." *Id.* at 108-09. Notably, the rationale for testing in appellant's case is even weaker than it was in *Richter*, because the lack of testing itself offered an argument for reasonable doubt that the defense vigorously pursued (see 8/23/16 Tr. 238-39). *See generally Richter*, 562 U.S. at 109 ("To support a defense argument that the prosecution has not proved its case it sometimes is better to try to cast pervasive suspicion of doubt than to strive to prove a certainty that exonerates.").³

Employing reasoning similar to *Richter*, many circuits have upheld similar decisions not to test for DNA as reasonable strategic choices. *See*, e.g., *United States v. Roberts*, 417 F. App'x 812, 823 (10th Cir. 2011)

³ The reasoning of the lone decision that Williams cites (at 16-17)—State v. J.A.L., 262 P.3d 1 (Utah 2011)—is directly contrary to Richter, which J.A.L. does not cite. The Utah court in J.A.L. saw "little to lose" in counsel asking the state crime lab to test a rape kit, and the court rejected the notion "that trial counsel reasonably could have concluded that asking the state crime lab to test the [rape] kit would have undermined Defendant's consent defense because if the results came back positive it would have constituted irrefutable proof that J.A.L. lied about not having oral sex." 262 P.3d at 9. But Richter reversed the Ninth Circuit for similar reasoning, explaining that when forensic testing could "expose[]" the defendant's story "as an invention," avoiding that "serious risk" of adverse results rendered the choice to forgo testing reasonable and not deficient. 562 U.S. at 108.

(unpublished) ("Roberts' counsel made an informed, strategic decision that further DNA testing posed more of a risk than being able to argue the absence of such evidence and we will not second-guess that choice."); see also, e.g., Skinner v. Quarterman, 528 F.3d 336, 341 (5th Cir. 2008); Stewart v. Att'y Gen., No. 23-1572, 2023 WL 10554917, at *1 (3d Cir. July 14, 2023) (unpublished); Armstrong v. Lumpkin, No. 21-40130, 2022 WL 2867163, at *7 (5th Cir. July 21, 2022) (unpublished); Smith v. Chapdelaine, 774 F. App'x 468, 476 (10th Cir. 2019) (unpublished); Brown v. United States, No. 18-5810, 2018 WL 11301388, at *2 (6th Cir. Dec. 6, 2018) (unpublished).

Appellant nonetheless claims (at 16) that his lawyer "simply decline[d] a path of investigation based on the belief that the client is guilty, where the client indicate[d] to the contrary." But counsel never testified that appellant claimed to be innocent or that counsel believed his client to be guilty:

THE WITNESS: He had never indicated to me-

MR. WINOGRAD: That's correct, Your Honor.

THE WITNESS: —affirmatively that he hadn't participated in the event. I believe he, when I asked him open-ended questions when we first met to discuss it, didn't understand

why he would possibly have been arrested, which is not really a strong denial, either. (2/14/24 Tr. 100.)

In other words, appellant did *not* affirmatively deny participating in the event. Appellant's bewilderment at being *arrested*—in a case involving a masked intruder—certainly was not a proclamation of innocence. Thus, counsel could reasonably interpret appellant's statement as "not really a strong denial."

In any event, even if appellant had clearly denied participation in the offense, strategic decisionmaking requires a defense attorney "to question the truth of his client's [exculpatory] account" and consider the "serious risk that expert evidence could destroy [the defendant's] case." Richter, 562 U.S. at 108. Strickland itself recognized that a defendant may give "counsel reason to believe that pursuing certain investigations would be . . . harmful." 466 U.S. at 691. That was the case here, where the full evidence—including appellant's "own statements [and] actions," id.—made counsel fear that DNA testing "very well could have been incriminating" (2/14/24 Tr. 104). Therefore, even if appellant had

proclaimed his innocence, counsel could reasonably decline to pursue forensic testing as a strategic choice. *See Richter*, 562 U.S. at 108-09.⁴

Counsel also did not forgo DNA testing because he judged appellant to be certainly guilty (cf. Br. 8-13, 15-21). Rather, counsel permissibly thought the risks of DNA testing outweighed the speculative benefits. Judge McKenna correctly recognized that strategic decisionmaking was "sound" and "reasonable" (2/26/24 Tr. 40, 46). Because an "appellate court will not second-guess trial counsel's strategic choices," *Gaulden v. United States*, 239 A.3d 592, 600 (D.C. 2020) (citation omitted), Judge McKenna rightly concluded that appellant failed to prove deficiency.

⁴ A defense attorney cannot *concede* his client's guilt at trial over a defendant's objection. *See McCoy v. Louisiana*, 584 U.S. 414 (2018). But "[t]rial management is the lawyer's province: Counsel provides his or her assistance by making decisions such as what arguments to pursue, what evidentiary objections to raise, and what agreements to conclude regarding the admission of evidence." *Id.* at 422 (cleaned up). An attorney does not need his client's approval to make these sorts of strategic legal decisions about how best to secure an acquittal (cf. Br. 11-12, 19). And as *Richter* illustrates, in making decisions about whether to pursue forensic analysis, counsel may consider the possibility that his client is guilty.

C. The Record Shows that the Lack of DNA Testing Caused No Prejudice.

Appellant also failed to establish prejudice. On remand, appellant repeatedly failed to supply the sort of expert testimony that this Court said he was likely needed.

This Court's prior opinion explained that, "although appellant suggests that a DNA expert could give the testimony he envisions about whether the victims' DNA could be expected to be present on clothing worn by the assailant, we agree with the government that it seems more likely that the relevant expertise would have to come from a blood-splatter expert rather than (or in addition to) a DNA expert" (23-110 MOJ at 10). Yet on remand, appellant persisted in offering only a DNA expert, whose testimony (understandably) focused almost entirely on whether DNA could be recovered if blood had splattered on the clothing (*id.* at 35-40). Appellant failed, however, to establish the likelihood that the crime would have left blood on the assailant's clothing in the first place (see *id.* at 40, 50-51).

Nor did the expert have the necessary factual basis for his testimony. In the previous appeal, this Court "agree[d] with the government that appellant has not specifically addressed what trial fact-

evidence an expert would rely on for the assumption that Ms. Roberts's blood spattered in a way that would have left traces on the assailant's clothing" (23-110 MOJ at 10). However, on remand, the expert reviewed only the pleadings that excerpted the same trial testimony that this Court had already found insufficient (see 2/14/24 Tr. 42-45). Indeed, the expert here examined far *less* than the parties and this Court had considered in the prior appeal, basing his decision only on the § 23-110 pleadings, without examining the underlying trial testimony or crimescene photos, and spending at most five hours with the case (2/14/24 Tr. 42-45, 50-51, 54).

Most crucially, the expert did not offer the testimony that the § 23-110 motion proffered and that provided the basis for the remand: "that the bloodied victim's DNA could be *expected* to be on the clothing . . . if appellant was the assailant" (23-110 MOJ at 10) (emphasis added). Instead, at the hearing below, the expert asserted only that the victim's DNA "could have been recovered" from the assailant's clothing, not that DNA "would have *likely* been recovered" (2/14/24 Tr. 31) (emphasis added); see also *id*. at 40 ("it would be fairly reasonable to expect that there could be blood that was transferred to the perpetrator onto those

particular items"). That diluted testimony undercut any showing of prejudice. If the assailant's clothing would likely have the victim's blood on it, the failure to detect the victim's blood on appellant's clothing would be somewhat exculpatory. But if blood on the assailant's clothing was merely possible, the failure to detect blood would prove little. Put another way, if (as the expert's testimony suggested) the failure to detect the victim's blood was fully consistent with the government's case—and, indeed, the expected outcome of forensic testing—that result would not "undermine confidence" in the verdict. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694.

The motions court did not focus on the expert-related guidance in this Court's remand order about the likely need for a blood-spatter expert to establish prejudice. Instead, the motions court relied primarily on "common sense" that DNA results excluding appellant as a contributor to DNA on the hooded sweatshirt or failing to detect the victim's DNA on his clothing "could have" created a reasonable probability of a different verdict (2/26/24 Tr. 48). But cf. 23-110 Order at 5, 9 (explaining that prejudice requires showing that counsel's error actually did create—not "could have" created—a "reasonable probability of a different outcome"). But the motions court and this Court are both bound by this Court's

rulings in the prior appeal with respect to the need for some foundational expert testimony about the likelihood of locating blood spatter or other material likely to contain DNA on the clothing. See Willis, 692 A.2d at 1382-83. Particularly given the expert's questionable qualifications (see supra note 2), his testimony was insufficient to establish the required "reasonable probability" that favorable DNA testing results would have led to a different verdict.

In any event, a finding of prejudice here requires knowing the results of the DNA testing. See, e.g., Robinson v. United States, 797 A.2d 698, 708 (D.C. 2002) (no showing of prejudice where defendant "never submitted any affidavit, or even an unsworn statement, summarizing the expected testimony of such an expert"); Tafoya v. Tansy, 9 F. App'x 862, 871 (10th Cir. 2001) (defendant did not show prejudice from counsel's failure to present DNA and serology experts where the record "does not indicate what the experts' testimony would have been, and speculation does not satisfy his obligation to demonstrate a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different"); Edwards v. Miller, 756 F. App'x 680, 681 (9th Cir. 2018) ("Edwards cannot establish prejudice

because his assertion that an expert could have established that the evidence was cross-contaminated is speculative").

Indeed, the very premise of appellant's request for post-conviction DNA testing is that he has a right to testing because favorable results "would entitle relief under § 23-110." D.C. [him] to Code § 22-4133(a)(3)(C) (emphasis added). See also 20-CO-672 R. 116-18 (IPA App.). Given the strong evidence of appellant's guilt, DNA testing is far more likely to prove inculpatory than exculpatory. And obviously if testing inculpates appellant, counsel's failure to test before trial caused no prejudice. Likewise, if testing proves inconclusive, appellant cannot show that the lack of testing was prejudicial. Thus, even assuming that appellant could show that counsel's strategic decision was deficient under Strickland, appellant at most would be entitled to another remand to pursue DNA testing.

II. Appellant Correctly Conceded Below that the Lack of IPA Inquiry by the Court Does Not Itself Constitute Ineffectiveness.

Finally, appellant failed to establish that counsel was ineffective in failing to ensure that the trial court conducted an IPA inquiry under D.C. Code § 22-4132 (cf. Br. 21-25). Appellant had never suggested such a

theory for ineffectiveness in his pleadings. And after Judge McKenna floated the legal theory at the close of the evidentiary hearing (see 2/14/24 Tr. 124-25), appellant disclaimed it, "agree[ing] that [*Teoume-Lessane v. United States*, 931 A.2d 478 (D.C. 2007),] says that there is no standalone right to overturn a conviction and get a new trial simply because an IPA hearing was not conducted" (2/26/24 Tr. 16; see also *id.* at 5-6). Instead, appellant contended, the lack of IPA inquiry supported his larger argument that counsel had failed to consider DNA testing (*id.*).

Because appellant at the remand proceedings intentionally relinquished the theory that the lack of IPA inquiry itself constituted ineffective assistance of counsel, he has waived the theory, and he cannot raise it on appeal. See United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 733-34 (1993); Poth v. United States, 150 A.3d 784, 789 n.8 (D.C. 2016). Moreover, even if appellant were deemed merely to have forfeited the claim, this Court has questioned whether the plain-error standard applies in the unique context of § 23-110 proceedings. See Thompson v. United States, 322 A.3d 509, 514-15 (D.C. 2024).

In any event, Judge McKenna correctly explained that the lack of IPA inquiry did not itself render trial counsel ineffective. As to deficiency,

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